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In a statement which I made before the Committee on the Judiciary
of the House of Representatives on May 9, 1955, shortly after the
issuance of the report of the Attorney-General's Committee on the
Antitrust Laws, I stated:

It ( the report) is a gigantic brief for the non-enforcement
of the antitrust laws. It is a massive sedative designed to be
absorbed by the enforcement agencies and the courts in the
prosecution and trial of anti-monopoly cases. The result can
only be complete immobility on the monopoly front. To para-
phrase General Sherman, if a complaint is received it won't
be investigated. If it is investigated, it won't be brought to
trial, and if it is brought to trial it won't be won.

Six months later in hearings before the House Small Business Com-
mittee, Professor S. Chesterfield Oppenheim, the Co-Chairman of the
Attorney-General's Committee testified that the office of the Admin-
istrator of Federal Courts had sent a copy of the Report of the Attor-
ney-General's Committee to every federal judge in the United States.
According to that testimony, Professor Oppenheim had suggested
such action to the Attorney-General.

Quite apart from questions as to its propriety, the action is signifi-
cant in that it illustrates the real and ultimate purpose of the Report,
which is to provide for every judge a complete guide or handbook
on how to interpret the antitrust laws. It is handy; it is well-organized
for the purpose; it has the appearance of being authoritative, enlight-
ened and sophisticated; and it will save our overworked federal judges,
harassed as they are by over-crowded dockets, a great deal of time
and labor which would otherwise have to be spent in looking up
previous cases, analyzing legislative history, and carrying on the mul-
titude of tasks required in the writing of a reasoned, well-considered
opinion.

What was the special occasion for the Report's appearance? Why was
it felt that at this time a report of this type should be prepared? Cer-
tainly, it could not have been the desire to obtain "clarification" of
the antitrust laws, since the report warmly endorses the application
and extension of the Rule of Reason in place of what are somewhat
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improperly termed "per se" rules. One can embrace either the need
for clarification or the Rule of Reason but not both at the same time.
As Professor Louis B. Schwartz said in his dissent, "One can have
more uncertainty and fewer per se rules, or less uncertainty and more
per se rules. Antitrust critics will have to make a choice."

-As one who has had the opportunity to observe first-hand the play
of forces, the development of issues, and the activities of affected
interests, my personal impression is that basically the report is merely
the latest in a series of efforts to modify antitrust law enforcements.
These efforts were touched off by four major decisions during the
middle and late forties. Had the reasoning of this Report been fol-
lowed, those decisions would never have been handed down. And
today, although the latter two decisions are still the law of the
land, there is, I am sure, the hope on the part of the Report's sponsors
that, guided by its precepts and logic, the courts in the future will see
the error of their ways and reverse these unfortunate mandates. What
are these four cases?

They are, first: Corn Products Refining Co. v. F.T.C.1; second:
F.T.C. v. A. E. Staley Manufacturing Co.;2 third: F.T.C. v. Cement
Institute3; and fourth: Triangle Conduit Co., Inc., v. F.T.C.4

The first two of these cases, the Corn Products Co. case and the
Staley Co. case were brought under section 2 of the Clayton Act as
amended by the Robinson-Patman Act. 5

The significant facts in the Corn Products case were these: The
Corn Products Refining Co. has two plants for the manufacture of
glucose or corn sirup-one at Argo, Illinois, within the Chicago switch-
ing district, and the other at Kansas City, Missouri. In selling glucose,
the Corn Products Co. used its Chicago plant as a basing point, charg-
ing the Chicago base price plus freight from Chicago on all sales,
whether they were made from the Chicago plant or from the Kansas
City, Missouri, plant.

Under this practice buyers of glucose in Kansas City paid a fictitious
or phantom freight of 40 cents on every 100 pounds of glucose they
bought. On all deliveries from the Kansas City plant to points freight-
wise nearer to Kansas City than to Chicago, buyers paid phantom
freight of varying amounts. On all deliveries from the Kansas City
plant freightwise more remote from Kansas City than to Chicago,
the Kansas City plant absorbed freight. Under this practice purchasers

1. 324 U.S. 726, 65 S.Ct. 961, 89 LEd. 1320 (1945).
2. 324 U.S. 746, 65 S.Ct. 971, 89 LEd. 567 (1945).
3. 333 U.S. 683, 68 S.Ct. 793, 92 L.Ed. 1010 (1948).
4. 168 F.2d 175 (7th Cir. 1948).
5. 38 STAT. 730 (1914), 15 U.S.C. § 13 (1952).
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were denied the transportation savings that normally would accrue to
them by reason of their proximity to Kansas City, and the Kansas
City plant realized varying mill nets depending on the point of
delivery.

It is an interesting part of the record that two or three candy plants
in Kansas City buying glucose from the Kansas City plant, in order
to avoid having to absorb the freight charge from Chicago to Kansas
City-although the product was never actually transferred-moved
their plants from Kansas City to Chicago. The Federal Trade Com-
mission found that the practice constituted a price discrimination
within the meaning of section 2 (a) of the Clayton Act-i.e. the Rob-
inson-Patman Act-and that it had injured competition among candy
manufacturers. The Supreme Court upheld the Commission's order
that the Corn Products Refining Co. stop such price discrimination.

The Staley case, which was decided on the same day, is a compan-
ion case to the Corn Products Co. case. The Staley Manufacturing Co.
had its glucose plant at Decatur, Illinois. In selling glucose it used the
Corn Products Co.'s Chicago price as a base price. Under this prac-
tice, the Staley Co. charged buyers of glucose at Decatur the Corn
Product Co.'s Chicago base price plus freight from Chicago to De-
catur, although glucose was bought from Staley's Decatur plant.

On all sales freightwise nearer to Decatur than to Chicago, the
Staley Co. charged phantom freight. On all sales freightwise nearer to
Chicago than to Decatur, the Staley plant absorbed freight. The result
was price differences depending on the location of the buyer. The
Commission found this to be price discrimination within the meaning
of section 2 (a) of the Clayton Act and that it injured competition
among the buyers of glucose. The Supreme Court affirmed the Federal
Trade Commission's cease-and-desist order and in doing so rejected
the defendant's pleas that its prices were made in good faith to meet
equally low prices of its competitors.

The proceedings in the Cement case were under both the Federal
Trade Commission Act and the Clayton Act. The Federal Trade
Commission charged, first, that cement manufacturers had con-
spired to use the basing-point system to eliminate price com-
petition among themselves in violation of section 5 of the
Federal Trade Commission Act; and, second, that this had resulted
in price discrimination that substantially lessened competition among
the sellers of cement. The Federal Trade Commission's record in this
case-50,O00 pages of testimony and 50,000 pages of exhibits-reveals
concerted action among cement manufacturers extending intermit-
tently over almost half a century designed to eliminate competition
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in the sale of cement. The basing-point system had become the prin-
cipal instrument in this program, but it had been supplemented by
the standardization of trade practices and the use of freight rate books
to make easy the calculation of identical delivered prices at all points
of delivery. While the system did not work equally well through
good times and bad, it worked well enough so that throughout the
1930's cement manufacturers persistently offered to supply cement
on government projects at prices identical to the fourth decimal place,
although the prices were presumably submitted independently under
secret and competitive bidding.

The Supreme Court, in reversing the lower court, affirmed the Com-
mission's orders to the cement manufacturers, that they cease and
desist from perpetuating the use of the basing-point system through
any planned common course of action.

The Conduit Co. case involved an appeal to the Circuit Court of
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit from the finding by the
Federal Trade Commission that 14 corporate manufacturers of rigid-
steel conduit had violated section 5 of the Federal Trade Commis-
sion Act ; in the sale of their products. Section 5, of course, gives the
Federal Trade Commission the right to prevent unfair methods of
competition. The Commission's complaints charged violation of the
law on two counts.

Count one alleged that the respondents had conspired to use the
basing-point system of pricing and thereby had substantially lessened
competition in the sale of rigid-steel conduit, and that that was an
unfair trade practice within the meaning of section 5 of the Federal
Trade Commission Act.

Count two charged that each corporate respondent had violated
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act through the concurrent
use of a formula method of making delivered-price quotations.
The Commission found that for any seller to quote prices under a
basing-point system with the knowledge that his rivals are doing the
same thing and with the result that such practices eliminate compe-
tition among them is an unfair trade practice. The decision of the
Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals on May 12, 1948, upholding the
Commission is today the law of the land, as it was in effect sustained
by a four to four vote of the Supreme Court.7

These four cases were directed at a type of pricing method which
is inherently discriminatory in character and is particularly injurious
to the normal growth of underdeveloped areas. In a speech which

6. 66 STAT. 632 , 15 U.S.C. § 45 (1952).
7. Clayton Mark & Co. v. F.T.C., 336 U.S. 956, 69 S.Ct. 888, 93 L.Ed. 1110 (1949).
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I gave on the floor of the U. S. Senate on June 1, 1950, I described at
some length the manner in which these pricing systems have retarded
the normal economic development of the South and the West

The effect of the four decisions was to give the Federal Trade Com-
mission three weapons with which to attack basing-point systems.
Where the circumstances were similar to those which obtained under
the Staley and Corn Products cases, the Commission could attack the
systems under the Robinson-Patman act as discriminatory. Where
proof of agreement could be found, as in the Cement case, they
could be attacked as instruments of unlawful conspiracies. But per-
haps most important, where each seller individually followed the
same system knowing that every other seller was doing the same and
where the result was to substantially lessen competition, the system
would be attacked under count two of the Conduit Co. decision as
an unfair method of competition in violation of the Federal Trade
Commission Act. This was a formidable armory, and it is little won-
der that on April 28, 1948, the day after the Supreme Court's decision
in the Cement case was handed down, Mr. Irving S. Olds, then Chair-
man of the Board of the U. S. Steel Corporation, stated that industry
was faced with two alternatives-either it must seek remedial legis-
lation or it must educate the Supreme Court.

For seven years big industry has labored in the legislative vineyard
without avail. The Attorney General's Committee report represents an
attempted "massive education."

When the Supreme Court in the subsequent Standard Oil" case held
that good faith is a complete defense to a charge of price discrimina-
tion, it virtually rendered useless the first of these weapons. As long
as good faith remains a complete defense, it is difficult to envisage
the successful use of the Robinson-Patman Act against a basing-point
pricing system. But the phrase "as long as" is important. The decision
in the Standard Oil case was, in effect, by a five to four vote; the
actual vote was five to three but Justice Minton abstained as he had
written the decision in the Circuit Court of Appeals upholding the
Commission. Thus, with the shift of one vote, this potentially powerful
weapon could once more be made effective. It is because of apprehen-
sion on this very point that such determined efforts have been made to
secure the enactment of legislation which would in effect cement the
Standard Oil decision into statutory law.

Perhaps after seven years of unsuccessful effort on the legislative
front, it was thought that nothing would be lost and perhaps much
might be gained by issuing a document which among other things,

8. Standard Oil Co. v. F.T.C., 340 U.S. 231, 71 S.Ct. 240, 95 L.Ed. 239 (1951).
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would reaffirm to the jurists the correctness of their original views, as
expressed in the Standard Oil decision, moreover, such a document
might provide the opportunity of extending the Court's decision be-
yond the province which the Court itself had established.

Personally, I disagree strongly with the Court's interpretation of the
law in this case. The Court, I believe, was guilty of substituting for
congressional intent its own views, misguided in my opinion, as to
what is economically desirable. But the Court at least set certain
limitations as to the extent to which the "good faith" defense could
be used. Now the Attorney-General's Committee would wipe out
these limitations and thus go beyond the Supreme Court's decision.

In the Standard Oil decision the "good faith" defense was limited to
the meeting of "lawful" prices; the Attorney-General's Committee
would in effect extend it to the meeting of "unlawful" prices as well.
The Report says that ". . . a seller should be deemed to have met a
lawful price unless he knew or had good reason to believe otherwise."
(p. 182) The report does not describe how the Federal Trade Com-
mission is going to establish the state of knowledge on the part of
the discriminator as to the lawfulness of the price which he is meet-
ing. This is not the lawfulness of his own price, about which he might
be expected to know a little, although even here there might be
room for doubt. It is the lawfulness of someone else's price. One can
hardly imagine a more impossible burden of proof to impose upon
the enforcement agency.

The decision limited the "good faith" defense to discriminations
made "to meet" competitors' prices; the Attorney-General's Commit-
tee would extend it to discriminations made "to beat" competitors'
prices as well. The Report says, "An incidental undercutting of the
prices quoted by others, when in the course of genuinely meeting
one particular competitor's equally low price offer, hence should
not invalidate a seller's defense." (p. 183) The Report does not
describe the circumstances under which an undercutting of price is
only "incidental."

In the Standard Oil decision the "good faith" defense was limited to
defensive price discriminations made to retain an existing customer.
The Attorney-General's Committee would extend the defense to ag-
gressive discriminations made to obtain new customers. The rational-
ization for this position consists of mere assertion. The Report says
that the Court "merely employed language describing the case at
bar" and that a limitation of the defense to defensive price discrimi-
nations "would not be in keeping with elementary principles of com-
petition. . ." (p. 184) The principle is to say the least unique. Just dis-
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regard what the Court clearly says, if it "... would not be in keeping
with the elementary principles of competition."

The Attorney-General's Committee certainly has the right to its
opinion that the Supreme Court's decision does not go far enough.
One can, however, question the propriety of the Committee's efforts
to create the impression that what it regards as right and proper has
already been accepted by the Court and is today the law of the land.
But what is really astounding in its implications is the Committee's
bland statement that what it considers the law should be, not what
the law is, now governs the enforcement of the law. The report states,
"Since the statute may be presently interpreted as we propose, we do
not consider legislative amendment necessary now." (p. 184)

The Attorney-General's Committee would also immobilize the other
two weapons, except where overt evidence of conspiracy was found.
It must be remembered that such evidence was present in the Cement
case. But its appearance in concentrated industries is becoming more
and more of a rarity. The large corporations have long ago learned
the importance of not keeping in their files letters, minutes, memo-
randa or documents of any kind which would constitute direct evi-
dence of conspiracy. One of the functions of the corporation lawyer
is to keep his client from making precisely this type of mistake.

Now the manner in which the Attorney-General's Committee sought
to cope with this issue represents, whether intended or not, an inter-
esting case example of how to create a misleading impression with-
out actually making a misstatement. After citing the decisions in
recent FTC cases, the Report says, "Such developments fostered the
notion that conspiracy necessarily followed from identical conduct
by competitors-provided each knew what the other was doing,"
(p. 38). Assuming the unstated justification, i.e. that the effect of the

practice substantially lessens competition the question arises as
to whether this is the law of the land? The Report says no, because,
"The Supreme Court laid this notion to rest in Theatre Enterprises,
Inc. v. Paramount Film Distributing Corp." (p.38). The Report
then goes on to quote the following passage from that decision:

The crucial question is whether respondents' conduct to-
ward petitioner stemmed from independent decision or from
an agreement, tacit or express. To be sure, business behav-
ior is admissible circumstantial evidence from which the
fact finder may infer agreement ... But this Court has never
held that proof of parallel business behavior itself consti-
tutes a Sherman Act offense. Circumstantial evidence of con-
sciously parallel behavior may have made heavy inroads into
the traditional judicial attitude toward conspiracy; but' con-
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scious parallelism has not yet read conspiracy out of the
Sherman Act entirely. (p.39)

The Report then draws this conclusion:

This Committee is in full accord with that Supreme Court
reasoning. "Conscious parallelism" is not a blanket equiva-
lent of conspiracy. Its probative value in establishing the
ultimate fact of conspiracy will vary case by case. Proof of
agreement, express or implied, is still indispensable to the
establishment of conspiracy under the antitrust laws. (p.3 9 .
Emphasis added.)

The crucial phrase in this interpretation is "under the anti trust
laws." The Theatre Enterprises9 case was a Sherman Act case. The
"notion" of "conscious parallelism" to which the Committee was ob-
jecting and which the Report says had been "laid to rest" by the
Theatre Enterprises case developed from Federal Trade Commission
Act cases. The principal cases cited by the report in its reference to

"development" which "fostered the notion that conspiracy necessarily
followed from identical conduct by competitors" are the Cement case
and the Conduit Co. case, both of course FTC Act cases. The
Theatre Enterprises case is obviously not relevant to the issue which
the report is here discussing. It is possible that the authors of the
Report might attempt to defend themselves on the grounds that tech-
nically the Federal Trade Commission Act is not considered to be an
'antitrust law." But such a defense would be specious, since the whole

point of the argument is to use the force of the Theatre Enterprises
decision against those cases which gave rise to the "conscious parallel-
ism" doctrine.

The distinction is of course fundamental. Since the Federal Trade
Commission Act was intended to go beyond the Sherman Act and pre-
vent in their incipiency practices which if not arrested would "ripen"
into Sherman Act violations, what is not a violation of the Sherman
Act may well be a violation of the Federal Trade Commission Act. In
this connection it is interesting to note an often overlooked observa-
tion of the Court to be found in the Cement decision:

While we hold that the Commission's findings of combina-
tions were supported by evidence, that does not mean that ex-
istence of a 'combination' is an indispensable ingredient of
an 'unfair method of competition' under the Federal Trade
Commission Act.

Incidentally, I agree with Professor Eugene Rostow that even insofar
as the Sherman Act itself is concerned, "The emphasis given to the

9. Theatre Enterprises Inc. v. Paramount Film Distributing Corp. 346 U.S. 537,
74 S.Ct. 257, 98 LEd. 273 (1954).
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limited decision of the Supreme Court in the Theatre Enterprises
case should not be misinterpreted" and that it "in no way weakens the
authority" of such earlier Sherman Act cases as Interstate Circuit,10

Paramount Pictures" and American Tobacco Co.' 2

There are many other aspects of the Report with which I thoroughly
disagree. Among other things, I disagree with the evidentiary require-
ments it has advanced as necessary to prove a violation of the Celler-
Kefauver Antimerger Act, with its attempt to read the Rule of Reason
into the Clayton and Federal Trade Commission Acts which Congress
enacted for the specific purpose of placing on the statute books anti-
trust laws to which the Rule of Reason would not be applicable, with
its recommendation for an increase in penalties as being unduly and
almost ridiculously modest, with its recommendation for the exten-
sion of consent decrees, with its direct attack on private triple-damage
suits and with its almost complete disregard of the problem posed by
the existence of monopolistic size and power.

But in this article I have endeavored to stress what I consider to be
the key issue which precipitated the far-reaching and continuing
attack on the antitrust laws, of which the Report is merely the latest
manifestation. For the reasons which I have endeavored to set forth,
the Committee's interpretation of the law on this issue is in manifest
error. I am confident that the courts of the land will recognize the
error and will enforce the law in accordance with the intent of Con-
gress-assuming of course that cases involving the issue are ever
brought forward.

10. Interstate Circuit Inc. v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 59 S.Ct. 467, 83 L.Ed.
610 (1939).

11. United States v. Paramount Pictures, Inc., 334 U.S. 131, 68 S.Ct. 915, 92 L.Ed.
1260 (1948).

12. American Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 U.S. 781, 66 S.Ct. 1125, 90 L.
Ed. 1575 (1946).


